FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 9/1/2022 12:31 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101239-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 38003-3-III		
STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,		
v.		
PHILIP NOLAN LESTER, Petitioner.		
PETITION FOR REVIEW		

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519 Two Arrows, PLLC 1360 N. Louisiana St. #A-789 Kennewick, WA 99336 Tel: (509) 572-2409

Email: Andrea@2arrows.net Attorney for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Philip Lester requests that this court accept review of the decision designated in Part II of this petition.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Petitioner seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals filed on August 2, 2022, concluding that

- (1) he did not preserve a Confrontation Clause objection to medical notes despite arguing that he could not cross-examine the author, and consequently declining to consider whether admission of the notes violated his confrontation rights;
- (2) his trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to instances of vouching for the credibility of the accuser and failing to request a unanimity instruction to prevent a double jeopardy violation;

- (3) the evidence was sufficient to prove the events took place within the specific time frame charged by the State and made the law of the case in the jury instructions; and
- (4) the sentencing court did not improperly penalize Mr. Lester for exercising his constitutional rights when it explicitly considered the effect of testifying on the accuser in imposing the sentence.

A copy of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Whether a record prepared by a family doctor after examining the accuser for alleged sexual abuse is testimonial hearsay that should have been excluded.
- 2. Whether language in a medical record declaring that the accuser's history is convincing improperly opines on the guilt of the accused.

- 3. Whether trial counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient when he:
 - a. Abandoned an objection to multiple statements by
 a law enforcement officer in a recorded interview
 that the accuser's report was credible and strong;
 and
 - b. Failed to request a "separate and distinct acts" instruction when Mr. Lester was charged with both rape and child molestation on the basis of oralgenital contact, such that convictions for both charges could have been based on the same act;
- 4. Whether the State was required to present sufficient evidence that the charged conduct occurred on or between specific dates under the law of the case doctrine; and
- 5. Whether explicitly considering the accuser's reaction to testifying in imposing a sentence improperly penalizes

the accused for exercising his constitutional rights to a trial and to confront his accuser.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed the charges after A.B., then four years old, told her mother on New Year's Eve of 2014 that her playdough looked like Uncle Junior's pee pee. I RP 219-20, 236. "Uncle Junior" referred to Mr. Lester, a neighbor whose girlfriend Ashley occasionally babysat A.B. beginning in September while her mother worked. I RP 221, 224-26, 245. A.B. never spent the night there; her mother dropped her off around 5:00 or 5:30 a.m. and picked her up between 2:30 and 3:00 p.m. I RP 226-27, 250. After either December 15 or 24, Ashley no longer babysat A.B. I RP 246-47.

At trial, A.B.'s mother testified that sometime prior to

November, she began noticing behavioral issues that caused her

¹ A.B. was originally found not competent to testify. CP (34806-7-III) 55-56. By the time of trial, she was 10 years old and testified. I RP 280.

concern. I RP 228-32, 235. A.B. complained that her privates hurt, began having more tantrums, and started having accidents despite being potty-trained. I RP 228-29, 231-32. A.B. also began to shy away from men she had known her whole life, which led her mother to begin counseling with her in November. I RP 235. And five or six times, A.B.'s underwear was gone when she came home. I RP 229-30. Not knowing what to think, her mother began using other babysitters more in November. I RP 230. A doctor confirmed that A.B.'s bedwetting was not caused by an infection. I RP 232.

After A.B. told her mother about Uncle Junior's pee pee and elaborated that he had shown it to her and touched her with it, her mother contacted police. I RP 222, 236. With CPS assistance, law enforcement conducted a forensic interview of A.B. I RP 334, 339-51; Ex. 6. During the interview, A.B. described several acts of contact between Mr. Lester and herself, including that he (1) put his pee pee in her mouth; (2) rubbed his pee pee on her; (3) slid down her butt; (4) touched

her butt using his tongue; (5) licked her butt; (6) touched her butt with his arm; (7) touched his butt with her face; (8) touched her foot, belly, boobs, hands, knees, and arms with his butt; and (9) put his pee pee in her butt. I RP 341-50.

However, she also described fantastical events, such as that his pee came out purple and his poop came out of his pee pee. I RP 347. She also appeared to indicate that her mother told her what to say in the interview. I RP 351. According to A.B., the events took place more than one time at Mr. Lester's house and occurred after Christmas. I RP 343, 350.

On January 6, 2015, A.B.'s mother took her to a doctor to assess "suspected child sexual abuse." Ex. 7, at p. 1. Despite conducting a physical examination that observed no visible trauma, the examination notes report the doctor's impression that the "history is quite convincing" as well as a plan to work with law enforcement and CPS. *Id*.

At trial, A.B. testified that she told her mother she was creeped out and scared by Junior sticking his thing in her mouth. I RP 286. She recalled that the abuse occurred during the night when she slept over due to her mother's late work schedule, which conflicted with her mother's testimony that she never spent the night there. I RP 226-27, 250, 287. According to this account, she was sleeping on the couch and woke up during the night to get a glass of water when Junior touched her in inappropriate ways and licked her vagina. I RP 287-88. She also claimed that he did it for two days until she told her mother because she did not want it happening anymore. I RP 286-87. A.B. also alleged that Junior threatened to hurt her and her mother while they slept if she told anybody, which she had never previously mentioned. I RP 288. According to her trial testimony, he did not touch her anywhere else or at any other time, in contrast to the statements she made to CPS years earlier. I RP 293.

Mr. Lester gave police a recorded interview in which he denied any wrongdoing toward A.B. I RP 367, 369. He described a holiday dinner in which A.B.'s mother was rude to him, after which she reported him to CPS. I RP 361-62, 370; 444-45. Mr. Lester reported that he was working during the times when Ashley babysat A.B. and he was never alone with her. I RP 364-65; 439-40, 446; Ex. 6. He contended that A.B.'s mother had coached her to make the accusations. I RP 369.

Mr. Lester objected to the admission of portions of his recorded interview that contained extensive commentary on the credibility of A.B.'s accusations. I RP 275-79. In response to the first objection, the State contended that it was a standard interrogation technique for police to lie about what they know. I RP 277-78. Trial counsel indicated he would be satisfied with that explanation but maintained his objection to a portion of the interview in which the detective referred to a previous accusation. I RP 278. Accordingly, the State agreed not to play

a ten-second portion of the interview referring to the prior accusation. I RP 278-79, 358. Prior to playing the recording, the detective testified that she does not always tell a suspect the truth and in order to make the accused "feel that it's better to tell the truth," she will tell the suspect that the results of the investigation clearly indicate that the crime has been committed. I RP 359.

As a result of this ruling, the following statements by the detective during the interview were played for the jury:

DETECTIVE: Well, what you need to understand is when [A.B.] was interviewed and I -- you know that I've done this now for a long time.

MR. LESTER: Yeah.

DETECTIVE: And in this interview, she knows things that she shouldn't know. Okay? So, you know, I don't -- I'm not here to -- I'm not judging you. I'm not here to -- but [A.B.] is extremely credible in what she had to say, even though she's only four. Okay? It was digitally recorded and audio recorded and it was an extremely good disclosure on her part of some of the things that happened with you at your house.

MR. LESTER: Huh.

DETECTIVE: And there's -- I got no -- no -- everything she told me I felt was very credible. It was very true. I mean it was -- there's absolutely no reason for her to be lying. And actually, I didn't even have to ask too many questions. She was ready to talk.

. . .

There's absolutely no reason somebody would make this up against you just to pick on you. This isn't something people do. Not -- not this. And that little girl is not able to hold a lie continuously when you ask questions. That little girl would not be able to lie about what she said. Okay? She's not capable of doing that. We would have tripped her up. So, something happened at your house with [A.B.]. And that's why I'm here to talk to you because this is the only time that I can talk to you and find out what exactly you did with [A.B.] so that I make sure that we deal with this correctly.

I RP 365-67. The jury also heard the detective ask Mr. Lester to explain A.B.'s accusation:

DETECTIVE: Okay. So, how do you think she'd come up with this statement -- why would she, why do you think [A.B.] would do this?

MR. LESTER: She's been told because her mom's been telling her to do this and do this and she -- she, you know, [A.B.] don't hardly listen half the time anyways.

DETECTIVE: Right, so --

MR. LESTER: When her mom corrects her.

DETECTIVE: -- why would she be able to keep a lie like that? She wouldn't. She's four. She wouldn't be able to keep a lie.

MR. LESTER: I don't know, Behymer. I'm just saying is I haven't done anything. I haven't touched her, I haven't done anything to her. I haven't abused her. I don't -- I'm not a violent person, especially with kids. Even if it was my own kid, I wouldn't even spank them. So, these allegations that do -- they're doing or how they do it, I don't know how they're doing it. I can't be honest to tell you the truth. I don't know.

DETECTIVE: Okay.

I RP 369; Ex. 6.

Mr. Lester also objected to admission of the portion of the notes of A.B.'s 2015 medical examination stating that the history was convincing, indicating that he had a problem with that language. I RP 382-83; Ex. 7. The State argued the records were admissible as a medical record under ER 803(a)(4). I RP 384. Trial counsel further objected that he was unable to cross-examine the author of the impression because the doctor who performed the examination was deceased. I RP 386, 395. The

trial court admitted the document without redaction as a medical record. I RP 387; Ex. 7. Accordingly, the State proffered the document through a medical assistant who worked for him and took the vital statistics reported in the document. I RP 390, 394-95, 397, 401-02.

Defense counsel did not propose any instructions and did not object or except to any of the court's instructions. I RP 454, 457-58. The court did not give any unanimity instruction. CP 78-97. The "to convict" instruction required the jury to find that the charged acts occurred "on or between December 1, 2014 and January 1, 2015." CP 88, 90. The jury convicted Mr. Lester on both counts. CP 100-01.

The trial court imposed a standard range sentence above the midpoint. II RP 553. In explaining its reasoning, the trial court stated:

I do weigh heavily the fact that this young lady, who was 10 at the time of the trial, faced cross examination, faced reliving and having to explain

what occurred and to deal with that, has exacerbated and actually escalated psychological emotional and the Court is taking that into consideration.

II RP 553.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Lester's conviction and sentence in an unpublished opinion filed on August 2, 2022. Appx. A. It held that Mr. Lester failed to object to the violation of his confrontation rights in admitting the medical notes, despite complaining that he would not be able to crossexamine the author of the notes, Appx. A at pp. 7, 11, 14; RP 386; that Mr. Lester's attorney was not ineffective for abandoning an objection to plainly improper opinion testimony that vouched for the credibility of the child accuser, Appx. A at pp. 14-16; that a "separate and distinct acts" instruction was not required, Appx. A at pp. 16-17; that the State presented sufficient evidence that the charged conduct occurred in the month of December, 2014, Appx. A at pp. 17-18; and that the sentencing court's express consideration of the fact that the

child accuser was required to testify at the trial in determining the length of Mr. Lester's sentence was not improper, *Appx. A* at pp. 18-20.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3), and (4), for the reasons set forth particularly below.

A. Whether the medical examination was testimonial under the "primary purpose" test elaborated in State v.

Scanlon is a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

This Court held in *State v. Scanlon*, 193 Wn.2d 753, 766, 767, 445 P.3d 960 (2019), that whether statements to medical providers are "testimonial" within the meaning of the Confrontation Clause jurisprudence depends on whether the primary purpose of the statements was "to meet an ongoing emergency and obtain medical treatment" or "to create an out-

of-court substitute for trial testimony." In *Scanlon*, statements to emergency room medical personnel in the course of receiving treatment for extensive bruising, broken fingers, and tears to his skin were made primarily for purposes of treating the injuries such that their admission did not violate the Confrontation Clause. 193 Wn.2d at 757, 767.

Then, in *State v. Burke*, 196 Wn.2d 712, 478 P.3d 1096 (2021), the Court examined statements made to a sexual assault nurse examiner during a rape examination and held that some were testimonial while others were not. In that case, the Court concluded that while a sexual assault nurse examiner's exam "contains both forensic and medical purposes," the examiner's principal charge is not uncovering and preserving evidence for prosecution. *Id.* at 729. Consequently, the majority of the statements made to the nurse examiner by the accuser were, according to the *Burke* Court, for purposes of medical treatment. *Id.* at 736-37. However, the Court concluded that a statement providing a physical description of the assailant did

not provide any guidance for medical treatment and was testimonial. *Id.* at 737-38.

In the present case, approximately two weeks after the last time the child had any contact with Mr. Lester, the mother took her to a doctor for the purpose of assessing "suspected child sexual abuse." Ex. 7 at p. 1. The medical notes reflected that while a physical examination revealed no visible trauma, the doctor believed that the "history is quite convincing" and recognized the need to work with law enforcement and Child Protective Services. *Id.*

This case presents a significant constitutional question concerning the application of the primary purpose test to medical providers because it falls in a middle ground between the emergency room treatment at issue in *Scanlon* and the formalized sexual assault examination at issue in *Burke*. The examination occurred after significant time had elapsed from the reported abuse and for the primary purpose of assessing the

accusations. Thus, the case provides a vehicle to define the outer limits of the "primary purpose" test's application to medical examinations.

B. Whether the medical record's language that the accuser's history was "quite convincing" constitutes an improper opinion on the accuser's credibility is a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

While Washington courts permit expert witnesses to offer opinion testimony on ultimate issues, their opinions may not be based solely on the expert's opinion of a witness's veracity.

State v. Fitzgerald, 39 Wn. App. 652, 657, 694 P.2d 1117

(1985). While the Courts of Appeal have previously recognized limits on a medical provider's ability to offer opinion testimony on the credibility of sexual abuse accusations, this Court has not done so. See, e.g., id. (testimony that accusers had been molested was improper when there was

no medical evidence of abuse and the opinion rested solely on the physician's evaluation of the accounts); *State v. Carlson*, 80 Wn. App. 116, 805 P.2d 999 (1995) (medical opinion based "almost entirely" on accuser's interview was improper).

In the present case, Mr. Lester objected to the admission of the opinion language and relied upon *State v. Redmond*, 150 Wn.2d 489, 78 P.3d 1001 (2003), which held that the trial court abused its discretion in not requiring the redaction of medical records that contained attributions of fault. RP 382-83, 385. This was sufficient to raise the issue of whether the comment should have been excluded due to its commentary on the veracity of the accusations against Mr. Lester, and this Court should accept review to address the constitutional limits on medical opinion testimony that relies upon determinations of credibility.

C. Whether trial counsel's abandonment of his objection to improper comments on the accuser's credibility falls

below reasonable professional standards is a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The touchstone in evaluating claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is not whether the choice was strategic but whether it was reasonable. *State v. Crow*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 480, 509, 438 P.3d 541, *review denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1039 (2019). In the present case, the comments at issue explicitly set forth the investigating detective's opinion that the accuser was "extremely credible," gave "an extremely good disclosure" that was "very true, and "would not be able to lie about what she said," comments that improperly place the prestige of the State behind the accuser's account. RP 365-67; *see State v. Coleman*, 155 Wn. App. 951, 957, 231 P.3d 212 (2010), *review denied*, 170 Wn.2d 1017 (2011) (describing impermissible vouching).

Here, defense counsel raised the admissibility of the statements outside of the presence of the jury, eliminating the risk that the objection would harmfully highlight the evidence.

RP 274-75. However, counsel abandoned the objection after the State offered to have the detective testify that she might lie about evidence as part of a standard interrogation technique.

RP 277, 278. This concession was unreasonable because the curative testimony failed to remedy the harm of the vouching when it did not inform the jury whether the detective's statements specifically about the accuser's credibility were truthful or not.

Whether it is reasonable attorney performance to abandon an objection to highly damaging and plainly inadmissible statements vouching for the credibility of the accuser presents a significant question of constitutional law warranting review by this Court.

D. Whether failing to request a "separate and distinct acts" instruction when the charged conduct could constitute both crimes and result in a double jeopardy violation was

deficient performance is a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Because Mr. Lester was charged with both rape of a child based on oral-genital contact and child molestation, the same act can support a conviction for both crimes, creating the potential for a double jeopardy violation. *See State v. Land*, 172 Wn. App. 593, 600, 295 P.3d 782, *review denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1016 (2013). Consequently, in such cases when the jury is not instructed that both crimes must be based on separate and distinct acts, the reviewing court must conduct a strict and rigorous review of the entire record to determine whether it was manifestly apparent to the jury that the State was not seeking punishments for the same offense. *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 664, 254 P.3d 803 (2011).

In the present case, the State's sole distinction between the charges came in a brief discussion of the meaning of the jury instruction defining "sexual contact," where he advised the

jury that rubbing the accuser's breasts was sexual contact. RP 487. At no point did the prosecutor elect specific acts to support the different charges as occurred in *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 665-66, and in *State v. Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d 808, 825-26, 318 P.3d 257 (2014). The passing reference to a definitional instruction would not have made it manifestly apparent to the jury that the charges were based on separate conduct in the absence of a unanimity instruction.

Under these facts, whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to propose an instruction needed to prevent a potential double jeopardy violation is a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

E. Whether the State met its burden to present sufficient evidence that the charged crime occurred within the specific time frame set forth in the jury instructions presents a question of substantial public interest under

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