FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/5/2022 12:17 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Supreme Court No. 1012390 Court of Appeals No. 38003-3-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

V.

PHILIP NOLAN LESTER,

Petitioner,

#### AMENDED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ALBERT LIN

WSBA# 28066

Prosecuting Attorney 237 4th Avenue N.

P.O. Box 1130

Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone 509-422-7290 Fax

####

#### B. ARGUMENT

The Petitioner has not established any of the circumstances to accept discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

1. THE ADMISSION OF A MEDICAL REPORT FROM A FORENSIC EXAMINATION FROM A NON-TESTIFYING WITNESS DID NOT VIOLATE MR. LESTER'S CONFRONTATION RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

"The Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause provides that '[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." This bedrock procedural guarantee applies to both state and federal prosecutions. *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 42, 124 S.Ct.1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004), citing *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400, 406, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965). The US Supreme Court in *Crawford* goes on to state that "[w]here nontestimonial hearsay is at issue, it is wholly consistent with

the Framer's design to afford the State's flexibility in their development of hearsay law ...". *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 68.

"Where testimonial evidence is at issue, however, the Sixth Amendment demands what the common law required: unavailability and a prior opportunity for cross-examination."

Id. Stated another way, "[t]he Confrontation Clause bars 'admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he was unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination."

Crawford, 541 U.S. at 53-54.

"The Sixth Amendment prohibits the admission of testimonial hearsay statements in a criminal case without an opportunity for cross-examination. *State v Hopkins*, 134 Wash.App. 780, 790, 142 P.3d 1104 (2006) citing *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 50-51, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). "There are three prerequisites before *Crawford* 

applies. First, the statements must be offered for the truth of the matter asserted, i.e., for a hearsay purpose." *Hopkins*, 1334 Wash.App. at 790, citing In re Pers. Restraint of Theders, 130 Wash.App. 422, 432-33, 123 P.3d 489 (2005). "Second, the statements must be testimonial, and third, the defendant must not have had an opportunity to cross-examine the declarant." Hopkins, 1334 Wash.App. at 790-91. While the Crawford court did not specifically define testimonial statements, they did identify three examples of statements that are testimonial: "(1) ex parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent . . . or similar pretrial statements that a declarant would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially; (2) extrajudicial statements contained in formalized testimonial materials, ...; and (3) statements made under circumstances that would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." *Id.* at 790-97, citing Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51-52, 124 S.Ct.1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004).

The Confrontation Clause requires the Court to identify whether statements are testimonial or non-testimonial. *State v. Burke,* 196 Wash.2d 712, 729, 478 P.3d 1096 (2021). The Court must "objectively evaluate the statements and action of the parties to the encounter ...to determine the primary purpose of the statements made..." *Id.* at 729, citing *Michigan v. Bryant*, 562 U.S. 344, 370, 131 S.Ct. 1143, 179 L.Ed.2d 93 (2011).

Petitioner mistakenly contrasts *Hopkins with State v.*Doerflinger, 170 Wash.App. 650, 285 P.3d 217 (2012). In

Doerflinger, the victim sustained an injury to his face from an altercation. *Id.* at 654. The emergency room physician suspected a fracture in the nose but was also concerned with other possible injuries that would require more detailed care than a nasal fracture. *Id.* The emergency room physician sent the patient for a computerized tomography (CT) scan. The radiologist reviewed and confirmed a nasal fracture. *Id.* The

Court ultimately found that there was no evidence that the primary purpose of the radiologist was to create an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony and therefore it was non-testimonial and the confrontation clause did not apply to its admission.

"The Sixth Amendment guarantees that in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." *Id.* at 655 (internal quotation omitted). "But not every out-of-court statement used at trial implicates the confrontation clause. The confrontation clause is implicated only by a witness who bears testimony." *Id.* "Testimony, in turn, is typically [a] solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact." *Id.* citing *State v. Jasper*, 158 Wash.App. 518, 527, 245 P.3d 228 (2010).

The statements made by this medical provider were his findings and impressions of the victim and not made as a substitute for trial testimony. They likewise were not

inadmissible hearsay because the report was properly admitted as an exception to hearsay rule, as a business record.

Even if admission of this report was error, it was harmless error. "When an error, such as improperly admitted hearsay evidence, deprives the defendant of the right to confrontation, the State must show that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Hopkins*, 1334 Wash. App. at 792, citing State v. Powell, 126 Wash.2d 244, 267, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). "An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if untainted evidence properly admitted at trial was so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilty." Hopkins, 1334 Wash. App. at 792, citing State v. Thompson, 151 Wash.2d 793, 808, 92 P.3d 228 (2004). Witness statements to a medical doctor are not testimonial (1) where they are made for diagnosis and treatment purposes, (2) where there is no indication that the witness expected the statements to be used at trial, and (3) where the doctor is not employed by or working with the State. *State v. Sandoval*, 137 Wash. App. 532, 537, 154 P.3d 271 (2007).

There was sufficient untainted evidence for the jury to rely upon to convict Mr. Lester. Therefore, even if it was error to admit the medical record of the victim, it was harmless error.

2. EVIDENCE ALLEGEDLY COMMENTING ON THE CREDIBILITY OF THE ACCUSER WAS NOT USED TO BOLSTER THE STATE'S CASE, WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED, AND TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO IT.

It is generally improper for a witness to opine on either the defendant's guilt or a victim's credibility because doing so risks intruding upon the jury's constitutionally protected role of factfinder. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wash.2d 918, 927, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). This type of claim can be raised for the first time on appeal only if the alleged error is "manifest". *Id.* at 934. Appellate review is waived by a failure to object at trial unless the testimony involved "an explicit or almost explicit" opinion on the defendant's guilt. *Id.* If an opinion is indirect or inferential,

the lack of an objection is fatal on appeal. *Id.* at 921. As a general rule, Appellate Courts do not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). Litigants must generally attempt to remedy any potential error at trial. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wash.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). If not, a party "could simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal." *State v. Stoddard*, 192 Wash.App. 222, 227, 366 P.3d 474 (2016).

RAP 2.5(a) contains several exceptions to this general rule. Defendant's may raise an argument for the first time on appeal if, inter alia, he can show "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a). An error is only "manifest" if the defendant can demonstrate "actual prejudice". *State v. Mohamed*, 187 Wash.App. 639, 648-49, 350 P.3d 671 (2015). A defendant can show "actual prejudice" by making a "plausible showing ... that he asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences" at trial. *State v. Gordon*, 172

Wash.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2001) (citations omitted).

Only "obvious" errors that cannot be attributed to trial strategy can be first reviewed on appeal. *O'Hara*, 167 Wash.2d at 100; *Kirkman*, 159 Wash.2d at 937.

Courts will not presume actual prejudice simply because the record contains objectionable conduct. See *State v. Yonker*, 133 Wash.App. 627, 634, 137 P.3d 888 (2006) (communication between the bailiff and jury, while improper, was not presumed to be manifest error). An error is likewise not manifest if its prejudicial effect is based on speculation. *State v. Lynn*, 67 Wash.App. 339, 346, 835 P.2d 251 (1992); *State v. St. Peter*, 1 Wash.App.2d 961, 963, 409 P.3d 361 (2018). If a defendant cannot establish a factual basis for his claim in the record, then he cannot show actual prejudice. *State v. McFarland*, 127

Wash.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The exceptions under RAP 2.5(a) should be narrowly applied, and a claim does not warrant review simply because it is constitutional in nature.

\*Kirkman\*, 159 Wash.2d at 934. A manifest error requires a

record "sufficient to determine the merits of the claim."

O'Hara, 167 Wash.2d at 99. Courts have generally declined to find actual prejudice when the jury was properly instructed on their exclusive role as factfinder. State v. Montgomery, 163

Wash.2d 577, 595, 183 P.3d 267 (2008); State v. Elmore, 154

Wash.App. 885, 898, 228 P.3d 760 (2010).

The jury was instructed that they were "the sole judges of the credibility of each witness" and that they are "the sole judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each witness." CP 342.3, p. 3. Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions absent evidence to the contrary. *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wash.2d 757, 763-64, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). There is no evidence presented that the jury was unable to follow the court 's directions. This Court should adhere to the general rule that any prejudice resulting from the alleged opinion was cured by the trial court properly instructing the jury. *Kirkman*, 159 Wash.2d at 937.

In order to establish that his trial attorney was ineffective, a defendant must demonstrate both (1) that counsel performed deficiently, and (2) that the deficient performance resulted in prejudice. *State v. Cienfuegos*, 144 Wash.2d 222, 226, 25 P.3d 1011 (2011). Both prongs of the test must be satisfied or the ineffectiveness claim fails. *Matter of Hopper*, 4 Wash.App. 2d 838, 844, 424 P.3d 228 (2018). Appellate Courts review ineffective assistance of counsel claims de novo. *State v. Wafford*, 199 Wash.App. 32, 41, 397 P.3d 926 (2017).

The defendant has the burden of showing that their attorney's conduct fell "below an objective standard of reasonableness." *State v. Grier*, 171 Wash.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). An attorney's performance is presumed effective, and this presumption is overcome only if counsel's actions cannot be explained by any conceivable legitimate strategy.

State v. Aho, 137 Wash.2d 736, 745-46, 975 P.2d 512 (1999).

A defense attorney's performance is also not deficient simply because the reviewing court does not believe the strategy

employed was ideal. State v. Carson, 184 Wash.2d 207, 220, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015). An alleged deficiency is not considered in isolation, but rather within its surrounding context. See *State* v. McFarland, 127 Wash.2d at 335 ("Competency of counsel is determined based upon the entire record below."). Thus, the court must accordingly consider counsel's contemporaneous perspective, and should not find an attorney deficient based on the benefit of hindsight. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984). A defendant must show that the errors made were "so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment." State v Fortum-Cebaba, 158 Wash. App. 158, 167, 241 P.3d 800 (2010) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687). An attorney is not deficient for declining to object when the complained-of evidence was not objectionable. State v. Johnson, 113 Wash.App. 482, 493, 54 P.3d 155 (2002).

"Only in egregious circumstances, on testimony central

to the State's case, will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal." *State v. Neidigh*, 78 Wash.App 71, 77, 895 P.2d 423 (1995) (quoting *State v. Madison*, 53 Wash.App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (1989)).

Additionally, conduct that "can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics" is not considered deficient performance. *State v. Dow*, 162 Wash.App. 324, 335, 253 P.3d 476 (2011); *State v. Carson*, 184 Wash.2d 207, 220-21, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015).

Washington Courts recognize that withholding an objection to avoid emphasizing inadmissible evidence is a legitimate trial tactic. *State v. McLean*, 178 Wash.App. 236, 247-48, 313 P.3d1181 (2013); *State v. Kloepper*, 179 Wash.App. 343, 355, 317 P.3d 1088 (2014).

A defendant is prejudiced by his attorney's deficient performance if he can show a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but-for his counsel 's unprofessional errors. *Grier*, 171 Wash.2d at 34.

A reasonable probability is one that is "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 33. If the trial record does not demonstrate the likelihood of a more favorable result absent the error, the ineffectiveness claim fails. *State v. Fedoruk*, 184 Wash.App. 866, 884, 339 P.3d 233 (2014).

In State v. Kirkman, the court held that the testimony provided by the Doctor did not comment directly or indirectly on the defendant's guilt or innocence, but the doctor "actually testified that his findings neither corroborated nor undercut" the victim's account of being sexually abused. 159 Wash.2d at 930. The Kirkman case involved a Doctor who testified that "the victim gave 'a very clear history' with 'lots of details' and 'a clear and consistent history of sexual touching...with appropriate affect' and that '[t]he physical examination doesn't really lead us one way or the other, but I thought her history was clear and consistent." *Id.* at 131-32. Just like in the case at hand, in which the medical records indicate that "history is quite convincing - exam is normal but that does not rule out

any abuse ...", there is no comment on the defendant's guilt and no vouching for the victim, the medical records actually are inconclusive of any abuse.

There is no prejudice shown to the defendant in their admission and any error would have been cured by the proper instruction provided to the jury in that they are the "sole judges of credibility of each witness." CP 342.3, p. 3. To further support that there was no prejudice to Mr. Lester, trial counsel used the inconclusive nature of the medical reports in his closing to support their theory that no abuse occurred. RP 490.

When addressing the statements contained in the defendant 's recorded interview, these statements were not objected to by trial counsel and are therefore not available for review. However, even if the comments were available for review, defense counsel had a strategic reason for not objecting to the entry of these statements. In fact, defense counsel during

his closing arguments uses the fact that the detective lied to the defendant to get him to confess, yet he still would not confess.

RP 499.

### 3. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT REQUESTING A "SEPARATE AND DISTINCT ACTS" INSTRUCTION.

"The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution protect a defendant against multiple punishments for the same offense." State v. Sanford, 15 Wash.App.2d 748, 752, 477 P.3d 72 (2020), citing State v. Mutch, 171 Wash.2d 646, 661, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). Double jeopardy issues are questions of law that are reviewed de novo. State v. Hughes, 166 Wash.2d 675, 681, 212 P.3d 558 (2009). The double jeopardy clauses of the Washington State and United States Federal Constitutions protect a defendant from multiple prosecutions and multiple punishments for the same offense. Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684, 688, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980); State v.

Vladovic, 99 Wash.2d 413, 423, 662 P.2d 853 (1983).

However, the double jeopardy clause does not prohibit separate punishment for different offenses. In re Pers. Restraint of Fletcher, 113 Wash.2d 42, 46-47, 776 P.2d 114 (1989).

Therefore, offenses committed during a single incident are not necessarily the same offense. Vladovic, 99 Wash.2d at 423.

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